                         1993 Mission trip to Siberia

April 1993 was a very eventful month.  Pastor Larry Killion, yours truly, from The Lords Baptist Church in Tacoma, Washington took a trip with Elder Kenneth Long to explore the possibility of an open door of missionary opportunity.  Our church was planning to send Brother Long and his family to the Mission Fields of Siberia, Russia.  Brother Killion decided to keep a journal of the trip.  He began writing his journal on this trip in the city of Khabarouvsk Far East Russia.  Please enjoy the notes.

The tickets came Saturday 4/24 for my flight the next morning to San Francisco, where I was to rendevous with brother Long.  I think God was testing my faith because I always get fearful when I’m scheduled to be somewhere and do not have the means to get there.  Also, I was shocked to find out the total package ran about $239 more than what we had in the passage fund and that I would have to exhaust my personal savings account to have $500 to take on the trip.  

4/25:  My family saw me off at Sea/Tac Airport Sunday AM and I met Brother Long at the Aeroflot counter in San Francisco.  He informed me that Delta did not give him the refund that the travel agent said he had coming, so he only had $10.00 on him.  We each had our two 44 pound bags (one each stuffed with Russian gospel literature, the book of John and Romans, and New Testaments) plus our carry-on bags.  

The Aeroflot flight from San Francisco to Anchorage went smoothly and the service was better than I expected.  In Anchorage we had a one-hour layover while the plane was fueled and serviced.  Brother Long and I purchased some post cards in the terminal and mailed them to our wives.  Take-off was delayed 30 or 40 minutes while they loaded some cargo in the passenger section of the plane with us.  

When we landed in Khabarouvsk my watch said it was 6AM Monday 4/26 but the clock on the terminal wall said it was midnight or 12AM Tuesday 4/27.  The contrast between the Anchorage terminal and the Khabarouvsk terminal is like night and day.  You must see it to believe it.  It felt like we stepped back in time about 30 or 40 years.  I felt like I was in a black and white Bogart movie.  By the time we got checked through customs and they got everybody together who was going to the “Intourist Hotel” it was about 2AM.  With four more people than the shuttle van driver expected {plus their bags) you should have seen what we looked like all packed in the van for the 20 minute ride to the Hotel.  They took our passports when we checked in and that made me uncomfortable but they said they would return them in the morning and we finally got to bed about 4AM.  Breakfast was to be served in the Red Dining room at 8AM.  

4/27:  Tuesday:  The next morning (two hours later) we woke up at 6AM because I accidentally set my watch back one hour too much when we went to bed.  While waiting for the Dining hall to open we inquired at the front desk as to how much it would cost to stay an additional four nights as we were only booked for Monday and Tuesday night at the time.  We were told that it would be $113 per night, which would have left us about $70 for food and expenses for the next two weeks.  They did not take credit cards.  

We looked outside and it was snowing and blowing with below zero winds from a China Typhoon that blew in.  We went into the dining room but no one seemed willing to speak English to us so we simply asked for breakfast using our Russian-English dictionary.  We were served a cold greasy looking plate of salami with butter and a square chunk of stuff that I suppose was an omelet of some kind.  After breakfast I was stricken with an unnatural feeling of deep dark depression.  I think it was more than just culture shock.  I believe it was an attack of Satan to discourage me.  Since the fall of the Berlin wall we were some of the first ones in over 70 years to be on this soil with the gospel message of salvation in Christ and I know that did not set well with the Devil.  

We had prayer in our room and went to find an English-speaking interpreter to help us find cheaper accommodations.  We were directed to the sales department where we met a lady named Tatiana, who said she would do her best to find us a place.  By the way, there was not hot water in our room and the 220V outlet in our bathroom was dead.  

We changed $20 into Rubles at a 1/813 rate, purchased a city center map for 50 cents, picked up our passports and visas that they had taken from us during the check in process the night before, purchased some post cards and the appropriate Russian postage to mail them to the USA, and struck out on foot to see if we could find the Far East Broadcast Company where Brother Z. T. Rankin had a Russian Gospel Radio Ministry.  We were hoping to find an English speaking person there who would have pity on us and help us find our way around.  

The Hotel people had directed us to a certain place on our map where they said radio broadcasts were made.  We asked if they knew where the unregistered Baptist Church was located but although they knew about it, they couldn’t tell us where it was.  When we arrived at the radio broadcast place, (the map called it The Far Easterners Memorial Complex for Military and Labor) it was a tall building with many antennas and microwave dishes on the roof.  

Inside and after a couple of attempts to communicate we met Petrov who was very friendly, helpful and anxious to practice his English on us.  He told us that there was no Christian broadcasting in the building as it was a branch of the Moscow Broadcasting Company in Khabarouvsk.  We showed him the addresses of a couple of people who had listened to Brother Rankin’s Gospel program and written in for a free Bible.  One address in particular was very near where we were.  Petrov took us out to the bus stop and directed us toward the address.  We gave Petrov the Gospel of John and the book of Romans.  He thanked us but said, “I am afraid I am not as religious as I should be.”  We also exchanged business cards.  

Brother Long and I elected to walk rather than ride the bus at that time.  If you see our video of their busses and streetcars you will understand.  It is almost cartoon like to see the mass of humanity scrunched into those vehicles.  In a short time we found the address we were looking for and were knocking on the door.  This is when we met Eleanora and Vladimir and had a very interesting visit with them seeing as they did not speak English even as much as we speak Russian.  But with the use of hand gestures and our pocket Russian-English dictionary we told them that we were there from America to give them a Bible.  

They were both retired and living on a pension.  Vladimir gave us a map book of the city and region because our map was not accurate.  His was in Russian and ours was in poorly translated English with out dated street names.  We took their picture receiving the Bible from Brother Long.  They invited us back on Saturday at 2PM to meet their grandson who was studying English.  They also gave us some tea with bread, cheese, and some very delicious jam made of raspberries from their garden.  They told us that this was a special day for remembering parents.  Eleanora’s father was shot by Stalin many years ago.  

When we returned to the Hotel there was a note for us from Tatiana.  She found an apartment for us and we would have it all to ourselves.  It had two bedrooms, a kitchen, a private bath and household items for $40 per night until 3:30PM Sunday, totaling $160.  With this news and after the good visit we had with the Russian people we met that day we had another season of prayer and thanksgiving for our great God’s watch care over us.  

I ordered a pitcher of hot water and took a sponge bath and we turned in early for a full nights rest.  The next morning, Wednesday, 4/28, I was feeling much better and we boldly entered the dining room and told them we wanted pancakes and fried eggs – which we received and it tasted pretty good.  After breakfast we went to Tatiana’s office in the Sales Department and waited from 9 to 10 for her to arrive.  When she arrived we agreed to her proposal of an apartment for $160 and she called the owner to make the arrangements.  We checked out of the Hotel and the owner came with the key to the apartment about noon.  We hailed a taxi to move us from the Hotel to the apartment for five dollars.  

Wednesday 4/28:  The Apartment was very nice.  I took the larger room that was furnished with two chairs, two tables, a telephone, a lamp, stereo, TV (no English programs) the couch that folds out into a bed, and a large china cabinet.  Brother Long’s room was a little smaller.  He had a closet, two small cabinets, a desk with a wobbly stool, a clock and a couch that also folded out into a bed.  We went right to work in the kitchen boiling water on the little gas-fired range.  We had been warned to drink only bottled water or boiled water.  I purchased bottled water at the Hotel but they gave me a carbonated form of mineral water that neither of us cared for.  

We used some of our first batch of boiled water to make soup.  Brother Long had brought some packages of soup mix in his suitcase.  Bless him.  We then went out to do some shopping.  That should be a piece of cake, right?  You think so?  Try it in Khabarouvsk.  It is an adventure to say the least if you have never done it before and do not know the language.  But we were somewhat successful and came home with two bottles of milk, two cans of pork luncheon meat, cheese, a liter of orange soda, and a liter of grape soda.  The sodas cost 1600 rubles each, the milk cost 90 rubles each for a bottle that looked like it was a little larger than a pint.  I forget what the cheese cost, that’s another story anyway.  We couldn’t find any bread.  We saw that there were four eggs in a little rack in the fridge back at the apartment so we postponed buying any eggs until the next day.  

You cannot get everything you want in one store.  You must go from business to business until you acquire the items you need.  We also ran across a Southern Baptist Church on Lenin Street but the Pastor was not there.  We left our name and telephone number with a girl that she would call us in the morning and tell us when the Pastor could see us.  We were still hoping to find out where the unregistered Baptist Church was and maybe where the Far East Broadcasting Company was.  

We returned to the apartment and snacked on snicker bars, M&Ms, cookies and crackers with instant coffee.  Our cheese turned out to be chocolate flavored cheese.  It was ok but real cheese would have been better.  I did some more post card writing and zonked out from 7 to 9PM.  I tried some Russian tea that was in the kitchen cabinet then tried to fall asleep for the night but sleep became evasive.  

Thursday AM 4/29:  The next morning, I had a nice hot shower and fixed us an omelet with the eggs in the fridge and some of the canned pork meat and cheese from a snack pack of crackers that Brother Long had brought.  We had hot coffee and orange soda to drink.  The girl from the SBC church called and said that the Pastor could see us between 6 and 7 in the vicher (evening).  We called the Intourist Sales Department and had Tatiana set up a tour of the city for us in a car with an English-speaking guide.  She made the arrangements for them to be at our apartment at 10AM for about a 2hr tour for 29 American dollars and a recommended 2-dollar tip for the guide and the driver each.  

We set out on our Thursday shopping trip after a time of prayer.  We found our way to Karl Marx Street (the main street through town) and I passed out some books of John and Romans.  We found a little café of some kind around noon.  I approached a young couple that were eating some dumplings or something and asked them “stoh eta”  (What is it?)  The young man said “Pelmen”.  I said “spasiba” (thank you) he said “pashalstah” (you’re welcome) and we ordered it.  We asked for Coca Cola but the server said “Niet” (no).  Then she said something else that I did not understand and Brother Long said she was asking if we wanted juice.  I said “Dah, spasiba” (yes, thank you) then she held up a piece of bred and said “kleb?” I said “Dah, spasiba”.  I forget exactly what it cost but it was all less than 400 rubles, which was about 50 cents.  

We ate it standing at a round chest high table.  There were no chairs, just those round snack bar style tables that everyone ate from.  I was wearing jeans, a windbreaker, a baseball cap, and it was very obvious that we were AMERIKANS.  Everybody seemed to be staring but they were hesitant to make eye contact. I removed my cap and set it on the camcorder when we had prayer for the food.  There was a group of four Asian young men the next table over.  I think they were Chinese.  They kept talking among themselves and looking at the camcorder.  I remember thinking I could probably afford to lose the cap but I preferred not losing the camcorder and I began to take a more protective stance with it while I “enjoyed my meal”.  We had soy sauce on our Pelmen and it was very good.  It had some kind of meat inside folded over pieces of dough, boiled, and served in a bowl kinda-like won ton soup.  

After lunch we continued our trek up and down the streets of Khabarouvsk city center.  We purchased some Russian ice cream cones for 25 rubles each and took some pictures and video of Russian street venders and the traffic, etc.  We found some Coca Cola for 400 rubles per can, a small bag of little oranges and 10 eggs  -  forgot the price.  We went back to the food “Magazeen” (store) to get some butter.  They do it differently than we do.  You go to the store; figure out what you want; go pay for it and get a receipt; take the receipt to the product server and they give you the product for the receipt.  Somewhere in the middle of doing that, while figuring rubles and dollars, and gram equals what, we wound up with 1600 rubles worth of butter ($2.00) which was a kilogram which was way too much for two guys for three more days; but we figured we would leave some for the apartment owner since we were using their tea, sugar, salt and pepper, instant coffee etc.  Also, we could take some with us on Saturday to Eleanora’s and Vladimir’s.  

We stopped at the “Poshtka” (Post Office) and I mailed a post card but like our post offices at home, the lines were too long to buy any more postage.  We went to the “Bahnk” also and changed some more dollars to rubles.  Let me remind you that every little event that I mention like this is much easier said than done.  While buying the eggs, we saw a girl with a loaf of bread.  I pointed to the loaf and said “gedeh?” (where)  She said something and gestured up to and around the corner.  We went up to and around the corner but didn’t see any bread anywhere.  An old man was passing by so I said “Prahsteetee” (pardon me).  He stopped and looked at me silently as if to say, WHAT.  I said, “gedeh kleb?” (where bread?)  He pointed to the door I was standing in front of and said “VOT” (here).  Spasiba – Pashalsta.  Brother Long bought two loaves, one regular and one dark Russian Rye.  We went back to the apartment.  At 6PM we went to meet with the SBC Pastor but there had been a miscommunication with the girl and he had gone for the day at 6PM and we just missed him.  So, we went back to the apartment and had canned pork sandwiches on fresh baked Russian bread.  We had another good season of prayer and retired for the evening.  

Friday morning 4/30:  I had another nice warm shower and fixed fried eggs over easy (the Russians only serve eggs sunny side up).  At 10AM sharp the Intourist car and guide was at our door for the tour.  We told them we had walked around the city center on our own and didn’t want to spend time on that.  We wanted to see some of the outskirts of the city if possible.  Our first stop was the Monument in honor of the 50th anniversary of the formation of the USSR and a power equipment plant.  WHOOPIE!  We asked if they would take us to the prayer house of the unregistered Baptist Church.  The Taxi driver knew of it and it was only a few blocks away.  There seemed to be a ladies prayer meeting going on.  We found a deacon who told us through the tour guide that they were just finishing a Conference and had a Pastor Charles Marshall from Garden Baptist Church in Bridgeton, MO. Preach for them.  We were told that there would be services tomorrow evening at 5PM in English and Russian.  It was good to finally make contact with these Christians. 

From there we went along a park with three large ponds and came to Lenin Square.  The guide pointed out the various buildings around the square; former communist headquarters, schools and institutes, a bookstore, house of fashion, etc.  This is the place where in the past, great and grandeur parades and so on were done on May Day (tomorrow) but this year nothing is planned and the Russian people spend the day quietly with their families and celebrate the beginning of Spring.  Then we headed North again on Karl Marx street having the various buildings named for us such as the Musical Comedy Theater, and the Teacher’s Training Institute, until we came to the Russian Orthodox Church.  There were several beggars outside the gate and in the courtyard.  I passed out al the literature I had in my backpack.  I took video of the inside of the old cathedral.  Brother Long had my Minolta on the excursion and was taking slides while I operated the camcorder.  It will be fun to see the slides and video when we get home.  From the cathedral we went to the Train Station.  This is one of the main stops on the longest railway system in the world.  The famous Siberian Express starts in Vladivostok and ends in Moscow going through Khabarouvsk and many other towns and villages.  It was interesting to see the work crews everywhere taking down the hammer and cycle and other symbols of communism from the public buildings.  We then went for a short drive out to the outskirts of town, through a small shanty town like village and into the countryside near the power plant which supplies heat, hot water, and electricity to Khabarouvsk with coal fired boilers.  We saw a Pioneer Camp (Boy Scouts) and had a wonderful view of the Amur River on which the city was founded.  

When we arrived back at the apartment it was about 12:30PM.  We decided to try the SBC Pastor again to see if he knew where the Far East Broadcasting Company was located, but he was not in his office.  We made ourselves some sandwiches again for lunch and went back out for the afternoon to pass out Russian New Testaments and Christian literature around our “dome” (home or building).  People in Khabarouvsk for the most part were very happy to receive our literature but of course, like everywhere else, there were those who would wrinkle their nose and snarl “niet”.  

We decided to call Petrov, whom we met the first day and gave us instruction in English on how to find Eleanora and Vladimir’s dome.  We invited him to our apartment.  He brought a friend named Uri who was a Captain on a ship that sailed the Amur River.  We had a good visit asking many questions about life on the Russian economy.  They were appalled at the prices we were paying Intourist for our accommodations.  Petrov said we were being robbed compared to what Russian citizens pay for the same thing.  Uri wanted us to visit his dome.  So we did.  This is when we learned what the large metal containers were that looked sort of like dumpsters everywhere.  They were garages.  Uri said he never uses his because it is 3 kilometers away from his dome.  While we were at Uri’s dome Petrov said he wanted us to see his dome, so we all got in Uri’s little red car and headed to Petrov’s dome via our apartment to get our camera.  As we negotiated our way along the muddy lane where a bunch of garages were located, more than once I thought we would stall out or get stuck and have to step out into a foot of water or so but we made it.  I remarked to Petrov that I was sure that Uri was a better Sea Captain than a Taxi driver; never the less I thought I was getting seasick.  They had a good laugh on that one.  Uri’s car sounded like a diesel but he said it ran on benzine (gasoline).  The noise must have been the rods knocking.  I asked how much he paid for it and he said 2 million rubles.  I thought to myself – you were robbed.  We stayed at Petrov’s dome only long enough to meet his family and have “chai” (tea) with them.  The Russian people seem to be real big on tea.  

The next morning, 5/1, we called Intourist to verify that they would transport us to the airport for our flight to Vlodivostok on time.  They assured us that the van would be at our apartment at 3:30PM.  We spent the morning passing out the remainder of this cities allotted New Testaments and literature on the corner of Lenin Street and Volochaivshaya.  At 2PM we found our way to Vladimir and Eleanora’s.  She had a wonderful table of food set for us and she was happy to receive the extra butter we mistakenly purchased on one of our shopping trip learning experiences.  We met their grandson Aloosha, who I think was 12 and he was a very handy interpreter for us.  We learned that Eleanora attended the Orthodox Church and Vladimir was an atheist.  After dinner, Eleanora and Aloosha agreed to visit the Russian Baptist church with as at 5PM.  They also asked us to come to their dome next Sunday after Vladivostok and before home.  

It was about a 15 to 20 minute walk from their place to church and dark clouds in the distance were threatening rain, but it held off until we made it to church.  Their services are a little different that I was used to.  There were somewhere between 100 and 200 in the service and the singing was beautiful.  There was a choir section in the normal location and a table and chair where we normally see the pulpit.  The pulpit was up and over on the right like in the days of Spurgeon.  The man at the table leads the service calling for songs, prayers, greetings, sermons or exhortations.  They have 3 or 4 different preachers or deacons speak from the pulpit and in between they either a song, greeting, or season of prayer (either standing or kneeling but never sitting) and women, all wearing head coverings, are allowed to speak at these times and the prayers seem to be spontaneous when the leader indicates time for prayer.  There is also a portion of the service for an offering where they bring around a velvet bag for the collection.  

After the service we met a visiting Pastor, Vladimir Rublev, from a town across the Amur who had some younger preachers with him and some young ladies who had Sunday School classes, were with him too.  We exchanged addresses and talked a little bit about Theology but were not able to get into much detail.  The Pastor of the Khabarouvsk church didn’t seem to be there.  You will have to ask Brother Long about the Russian brethren and their “Holy Kiss”.  I won’t mention any more than that except to say that they got him good and I learned to be very aggressive with my hearty handshake using my left hand to grasp their upper arm and hold them at arms length while smiling and pumping the right hand vigorously.  

The next morning, 5/2:  We attended services again.  Upon arriving, we were directed to a small room where the first Pastor, the second Pastor, and several Deacons, a Russian Gideon representative, an American Gideon representative (who was a member of a Nazarene church in Nashville, Tn.)  and his interpreter were gathered.  We were introduced and we told them what our mission was.  They were happy to hear of Brother Long’s call to the mission fields of Russia.  If we had not been flying out to Vladivostok that afternoon we would have had the opportunity to preach in the evening service.  The Pastor informed us that they were taking the Lord’s Supper that morning.  We told him we only took the Lord’s Supper in our home church.  They seemed to accept that as “horoshow” (OK).  The Nazarene took it with them.  The Deacons administered the wine in four silver chalices and the bread that was used did not appear to be unleavened bread.  The Pastor said it was OK to video tape the services at anytime but not during the supper so as not to distract from the meaning of it.  Other than the Lord’s Supper, the services went pretty much as already outlined.  Both Gideon representatives were speakers.  The Russian representative sort of took over things at one point and gave an altar call.  Two ladies came forward and he prayed with them.  Afterwards, we got Pastor Gregory’s address and a phone number to his uncle in Vladivostok who attends the unregistered Baptist Church there.  

We hiked back to the apartment and at 3:30PM the Intourist van was right on time.  Once at the airport again, Brother Long seemed to suddenly be stricken with a sudden case of bad homesickness.  He said, “I’ve seen enough.  I wish this plane was headed back home.”  I think his greatest discouragement has to do with the language barrier.  I thought he had a better handle on the language than he does at this time.  Please pray for him and his family.  It is going to be very lonely among all these hundreds of thousands of people whom they can’t understand.  

We observed the pilot carrying bottles to the cockpit.  Brother Long said, “I hope that is mineral water and not vodka.”  The flight only lasted a half an hour and was nicer than I expected.  They served us some kind of juice on the trip and I remember thinking as I swallowed my first sip, I bet we shouldn’t drink this.  Well, I survived it but Brother Long had problems afterward.  

When we arrived at the Vladivostok airport our Intourist transfer van was not there for us.  While Ken watched our bags, I went looking all around the terminal for the Intourist desk.  There was none.  I found an English speaking Chinese man who suggested that we take a taxi and request a refund from the travel agent.  He said the taxi should cost around 8000 or 10,000 Rubles (about $10.00).  I approached a group of taxi drivers and asked “Stolka stoy taxi Vladivostok Hotel?”  (How much for a taxi to the Vladivostok Hotel?)  They said $50.00.  I let them know in a gracious way what I thought of their proposal.  One countered with $40.00.  I laughed.  A gentleman who acted like he was some kind of a taxi supervisor or something arrived on the scene and asked in English what was the problem.  I ran the scenario by him.  He said you want a taxi to Vladivostok Hotel?  I said yes.  He said $50.00.  I laughed again, shook my head no and said in a very loud and authoritative voice 10,000 Rubles.  He said, 10,000 Rubles?  I looked at him with the most serious face I had and said, DAH.  After a brief moment he said OK and pointed to one of the cabs.  We loaded our bags and were on our way.  At the Hotel I requested and received a receipt from the driver.  

We were given separate room at the Hotel.  There was no soap in my room, good thing I brought some.  I went over to Ken’s and ordered some CHAI VODA (tea Water) and had sandwiches again for dinner with instant coffee and candy bars.  We fellowshipped a while, had prayer, I returned to my room, had a lukewarm shower and turned in for the night.  

The next morning, Monday 5/3:  We went down for our prepaid breakfast.  What a circus.  Nobody would serve us.  There was no Intourist representative in the hotel and even if there were, it was a holiday.  That is a very, very brief description of what we went through before going back to Ken’s room and ordering more “chai voda” (tea water) so we could have instant oatmeal which Ken had in his bag.  After breakfast we discovered VISIT-Vladivostok which was an independent traveler service in the hotel.  We talked with a very courteous young man who spoke English.  He gave us a free map of the city and said next time call VISIT instead of Intourist.  (another evidence of capitalism rising in Russia)  He said since it is a holiday we will not likely be able to contact Intourist.  

We took the map and headed out to see if we could find the American Consulate.  Yes, with much effort and some frustrating encounters with non-English speakers, we finally found it but it was closed.  We saw the City Chamber of Commerce – closed.  Tried a Bank to change money – closed – holiday, holiday, holiday.  OK, back to the room and relax, pray, and fellowship.  We found some bread, 58 Rubles per loaf, and lunchmeat and more orange soda on the way back, so we bought it and put it in a little fridge in Ken’s room for eats.  On the way back to the Hotel a “babooshka” (grandmother) saw the gospel tract in my left front coat pocket and pointed to it and said something to her friend.  I pulled two tracts out and said “Pashalsta” (the Russian equivalent to the German Bitte which means either please or you’re welcome) and handed them to them.  I said YA (I) AMERIKANSKI, YA BAPTIST PASTOR, OWN (he) TOZSHE (also) MINISTER and Ken pulled out a couple of New Testaments and gave them to them.  One of the ladies pulled out a little Gideon New Testament from her purse and gave it to Ken indicating with hand gestures that she liked the quality and size of the print in ours better.  They thanked us and we told them they were welcome.  We also had an encounter with some Gypsies who were begging for money.  We offered them New Testaments but no they wanted Rubles.  One in particular was very aggressive with Brother Long and when she finally accepted the fact that he would not give her money she pulled a hair out of his head and put it in his coat pocket and Ken said he figured she was putting some kind of curse on him or something.  Thank God for the blood of Jesus and His power over all the works of darkness.  

Tuesday 5/4:  I woke up about 7:30AM.  I took my lukewarm shower (the whole bathroom is a shower, commode and all).  I called Ken to see if he was ready to eat.  Yes, but his stomach was still acting up.  I gave him some Imodium A-D that I had brought along.  We went downstairs and I asked at the front desk if they had a telephone number for Intourist.  They found it and I called and asked them where we were to go for our pre-paid breakfast.  They said we should be able to get it by going to the banquet hall of the hotel.  I told the man we tried that yesterday but they said no.  He asked when we arrived in Vlodivostok.  I told him Sunday evening.  He said they were at the airport to pick us up but missed us.  I told him we must have waited about 45 minutes or an hour while I searched all over for an Intourist sign but when we couldn’t find one we finally took a taxi.  He said, “ I should be able to get your breakfast problem solved.”  I said, “OK, shall we go back to our room until we hear from you?”  He said, “Yes.”  We did but we didn’t hear from him.  I was getting hungrier and hungrier.  I tried calling him again.  When he answered and I began to speak we were disconnected.  I called right back but the line was busy.  I tried a few minutes later and there was no answer at all.  I suggested to Ken that we try going down to the banquet Hall.  OK.  Sorry, Hall closed for breakfast at 10AM.  It will open again for lunch at 11AM.  We went to the snack bar and had cold sunny side up eggs over sausage with an egg roll thing with rice in it.  I had coffee and Ken had a Coca Cola.  It cost 2,150 Rubles (about $2.70).  We then headed out for the American Consulate.  

After showing our passports and passing through metal detectors, we met Vice Consul Mary Fortino who gave us some information packets and was very helpful.  She even called the phone number given to us by the Khabarouvsk Baptist Pastor and gave them our room number at the hotel so the could contact us there.  We found out that today was also a holiday and that we shouldn’t find too many offices open again.  She called Intourist for us but was informed that they were closed for the holiday.  I knew May the first and second were holidays but I didn’t know the 3rd and the 4th were too.  Maybe it was just because the 1st and 2nd fell on Saturday and Sunday.  So, we did a little more food shopping where possible, 100 grams of butter for 300 Rubles and returned to the hotel taking several slide pictures along the way.  Brother Long had been complaining about a plugged ear and now it was starting to be painful.  He took some pain medicine and rested.  

In the hall of the hotel a man asked me where I was from (in English).  I said Tacoma Washington and asked where he was from.  He said he was from Vladivostok and was here on business.  I asked what kind of business.  He said he supplied girls to the foreign guest in the hotel.  I said, “OH, I’m here on business too, I’m a Baptist Minister here to give out the Gospel of Jesus Christ.”  His eyes and mouth flew open and he put his hand over his heart rocking back on his heels and said, “I’m sorry sir!”  I told him I understand and such is life but since we had met this way I wanted to give him a gospel tract.  He took it, said thank you and I went on to my room.  

That afternoon I decided to try sending a FAX to my office at work back home and have my partner Dennis relay a message to my wife and the church.  We had learned from the Consulate that mail takes about three weeks to get to the States from here so we will beat all of our post cards home.  The FAX cost $12.00 and I got a receipt that said it was received.  Just before I went down to send it the hotel lost all power.  It was only out about an hour.  An article in the Vladivostok News (a weekly paper in English) raised concern about not enough funds to buy fuel oil for the power plant, which supplies heat, hot water and electricity to the city.  I was wondering about that when the juice went off in my room.  

That evening we went down to Sukura, the Japanese restaurant next to the hotel.  Of course we couldn’t read either menu very well.  One was in Japanese and the other in Russian.  We asked for a salad, soup, bread, rice and meat with Coca Cola to drink.  It turned out to be a very good meal for 5,472 Rubles (about $6.50).  I left a 600 Ruble tip.  We went back to our rooms for the night.  Brother Ken’s earache was not getting any better.  

Wednesday morning 5/5:  I woke up at 7:15AM.  I took my shower and called Brother Long.  He said he had been up sick almost all night long and was still not feeling well.  He told me to go down for breakfast and let him know how it fared.  I went straight to the banquet room.  Although there were many tables in the room, they seated me at one with dirty dishes on it and began to clear them and wipe the breadcrumbs from the linen tablecloth.  I asked for pancakes.  The response was PANKEKS?  Like, what is that?  I quickly found the word in my Russian/English dictionary and pointed to it.  AH, BLEEN -  NIET.  (Oh, pancakes, no.)  The waitress disappeared for a moment and returned saying something and nodding in the affirmative.  I thought – all right!  I was then served a sour dough roll, a cucumber, onion and tomato salad, a plate with a piece of boiled chicken (I think) a half slice of boiled egg with caviar on it and some cabbage.  Then came the plate with rice, a meatball and a sunny side up egg on top.  Well, so much for pancakes but I was stuffed anyway.  I folded up the egg roll in a napkin to take up to Brother Long.  The waitress asked if I wanted the SHEK (bill?) and I pulled out my key with the room number on it and said “bill it to my room.”  She said, “Intourist?”  I said, “Dah.”  She said HOROSHOW which indicated it was OK.  The guy at Intourist on the phone yesterday must have got through to them after all.  

I stopped off at the little snack bar and picked up a couple of Cokes for 1300 Rubles (73 cents each) and took them up to Brother Long’s room.  He was still not feeling well.  I looked up several words in my dictionary and wrote the pronunciation of them in my pocket tablet and set out to find a pharmacy to get Ken some medicine for what he figured was an inner ear infection.  I decided to stop in the first floor and check with the VISIT agency about a city tour (3hrs for $40.00). Oh, by the way, my friend is sick.  Am I pronouncing these words in Russian correctly to get him the medicine he needs?  I was directed to the hotel first aid room where a nurse gave me some eardrops and antibiotic for Ken.  I took it up to Ken but had to go back down to the nurse again to clarify the proper dosage for the antibiotic.  (1 pill 3 times a day)  

On the way back to the room I met Joseph, the Baptist Pastor in Vladivostok.  He was responding to our call from the American Consulate yesterday.  I introduced him to Ken and explained that he was ill with earache and nausea.  We were struggling with the language so I told Ken to move over to my room with Joseph while I went down to the first floor to hire an interpreter.  (I thought I heard my phone ringing from the hall and felt that it might be Marion, but got to it too late.)  I returned with an interpreter ($10.00 per hour) and we had a very productive meeting in the midst of which the phone rang and it was MOY ZYENA PO AMERIKA (my wife from America).  She got my FAX did I get hers yet?  No, not yet.  I told her we were in the middle of a meeting and she said OK, bye bye, I love you.  My heart was pounding.  It was so good to hear her voice.  

We explained to Joseph that we were independent Baptists and God had called Ken to be a Missionary to Russia.  We preach the fundamental doctrine of the Bible.  Only the 66 books of the Bible are the inspired word of God.  Jesus is God.  He was born of a virgin.  Salvation is only by the grace of God, not by works of man.  He was happy to hear all these things.  I showed him pictures of me baptizing converts into the church in Tacoma.  He said he did it the same way and asked if I baptized infants.  No.  HOROSHOW!  (Good)  He told us when their services were, on Thursday, Saturday and Sunday and asked us to take part in the worship service, but we would need a special interpreter who is familiar with Bible terminology.  I asked if he could find us such an interpreter an if it could be a man because we teach in our church that the woman is to keep silent in the service and only men are to preach and teach in a mixed assembly.  He said he could find such an interpreter and have him pick us up at 5PM tomorrow and take us to the meeting place.  

I thanked the interpreter for her help and said I would be down in a moment to pay for the service.  Joseph asked if we might have prayer, which we did, and he departed.  I had totally lost track of time but it turned out that the interpreter only charged us for 30 minutes.  While I was down paying for it, I also picked up the fax from Marion (1.00 fee).  All was well at home.  George Kelley was holding a special meeting in the South Park church in Seattle and they were getting it on video for me.  I spent the rest of the day updating this journal and nursing Brother Ken.  He seemed to be doing better after prayer when I left his room for mine at 10:15PM to shower and go to bed.  

Thursday 5/6:  I woke up this morning praying for Brother Long.  I washed up, shaved, made my bed and called him.  He was feeling better and told me to give him until about 9AM and he’d go down for breakfast with me.  He looked much better and said he felt OK, just tired and weak.  We had the same old unfriendly service in the banquet hall with our cucumbers, tomatoes, bread, butter, sliced roast beef, rice and salmon, no napkins, and if you want coffee or juice, you must ask for it.  The server will appear to be put out by your request but will finally bring it to you.  

After “breakfast” an Intourist representative visited our room to pick up our “voucher” and see how things were going.  Her name was SVITLANA.  We told her about the problem with breakfast and she said she would instruct the kitchen to fix us pancakes and there shouldn’t be any more problems about breakfast.  We also asked about the transfer from the Hotel to the Airport Saturday night and if she would call Aeroflot to confirm our seats on flight 809 from Khabarouvsk to San Francisco.  She said she would call us back at 10AM and let us know on these things.  

I then took the camcorder and went down to the main streets of town and took a few shots of Vladivostok street activity.  About 3PM Brother Long and I went down to SAKVARA again to have some soup and salad for lunch, but we wound up having the whole meal with rice and meat too.  I was hoping this would give Brother Long some strength and help him bounce back from his illness for the evenings outing to the Baptist Church in town.  

At 5PM Joseph was at our door.  We followed him down to the train station where we took a streetcar to another section of town.  I must say riding a Russian streetcar at rush hour is an experience in itself.  The church in Vladivostok is smaller and less formal than the one in Khabarouvsk.  We were introduced to our interpreter, Eugene, who said he was a member of another Baptist church in town.  I took down his address so we could send him some good Baptist literature, which he requested.  I think he did a good job for us.  I preached on “Why We Should Study The Bible” and Brother Long preached on “Four Things That Will Never Change.”  

During the service a Korean preacher came in and he also preached in English through the interpreter.  He preached from Revelation 1:7 and was mostly trying to encourage the people to bring more folks to church and was promoting some evangelistic meetings coming in June.  He used the word cooperate a lot so I figured he was a Southern Baptist.  Brother Ken talked to him a little bit after the services and said he didn’t think he was even a Baptist.  

Joseph asked us to come t his DOME after church.  Eugene could not go, but we went anyway.  It was another time of struggling with hand gestures and using the Russian Dictionary but it was good because we could also refer to scripture verses and communicate that way.  We pointed Joseph to Amos 3:3, Can two walk together, except they be agreed? Eph. 4:4-6, 4 There is one body, and one Spirit, even as ye are called in one hope of your calling; 5 One Lord, one faith, one baptism, 6 One God and Father of all, who is above all, and through all, and in you all. 1Jn 4:1-6, Beloved, believe not every spirit, but try the spirits whether they are of God: because many false prophets are gone out into the world. 2 Hereby know ye the Spirit of God: Every spirit that confesseth that Jesus Christ is come in the flesh is of God: 3 And every spirit that confesseth not that Jesus Christ is come in the flesh is not of God: and this is that spirit of antichrist, whereof ye have heard that it should come; and even now already is it in the world. 4 Ye are of God, little children, and have overcome them: because greater is he that is in you, than he that is in the world. 5 They are of the world: therefore speak they of the world, and the world heareth them. 6 We are of God: he that knoweth God heareth us; he that is not of God heareth not us. Hereby know we the spirit of truth, and the spirit of error. 

 Rom. 16:17-18, 17 Now I beseech you, brethren, mark them which cause divisions and offences contrary to the doctrine which ye have learned; and avoid them. 18 For they that are such serve not our Lord Jesus Christ, but their own belly; and by good words and fair speeches deceive the hearts of the simple.  2Thess. 3:6, 6 Now we command you, brethren, in the name of our Lord Jesus Christ, that ye withdraw yourselves from every brother that walketh disorderly, and not after the tradition which he received of us. 

 And Ps. 133:1.  1 Behold, how good and how pleasant it is for brethren to dwell together in unity! 

His wife Tatiana fixed us a big bowl of rice with eggs on it, pickles, cucumbers, fish, kraut, and bread and butter with CHAI.  They have 12 children; six sons, Vinamin, Zyenya, Pablo, Demetri, Andre, and Rowan, and six daughters, Lena, Natasha, Looda, Oksana, Olay and Yeera.  We wound up visiting until it was too late to go back to the hotel to we spent the night there.  The next morning we tried to get Joseph to come with us to the hotel for ZAVTRACH (breakfast) but some how we did not get the message across and they wound up fixing us breakfast instead.  It was a heaping plate of fired potatoes and onions with sliced salami, pickles, kraut and onions with CHAI.

Friday morning 5/7:  We went back to the hotel around 8:15AM too full to even think about our pancakes in the banquet hall.  We showered and rested while we waited for Svitlana to call about the tour and our transfer to the airport Saturday night.  Neither of us slept very well the night before, probably because of the CHAI we drank and the excitement of being with this Russian Christian brother and his family.  Svitlana showed up about 12:30 and said she would pick us up Saturday evening at eleven in the lobby for our ride to the airport.  Intourist has no guide for a city tour.  She said she could show us around but was not as prepared as a guide would be so let her know in the morning if we want to go around 1PM.  

It didn’t sound like she confirmed our tickets on Flight 809 to San Francisco.  We went down to VIZIT on floor one and asked them to confirm our flight home.  They also tried calling around about our purchasing a keyboard for my computer and the software needed to use it for printing in Russian.  They didn’t find anything for us on that.  Their car was finished with it’s service check-up so we signed up for their guided city tour at 2PM and that lasted until 4:30PM.  We walked down to the train station and exchanged $20,00 into more Rubles.  The exchange rate had gone up to 875/1.  We went back to our rooms to get ready for supper after that and tried the Korean restaurant down the street.  We had a Russian salad with coke to drink and I had a beef cold dish and Ken had a fish cold dish then we returned to the rooms for the night because the service was slow and Ken lost his appetite anyway.  

Saturday 5/8:  We went down for one more try at pancakes for breakfast.  NIET.  They brought us sunny-side-up eggs again.  Ken sent his back.  I ate mine.  I asked for coffee and juice, which we received.  The coffee was very strong.  The waitress brought a plate with a couple of cookies and muffins on it and extended it toward us as if to ask, “You want?”  We nodded in the affirmative and I asked for another coffee.  The cups were very small.  On the way back to our rooms a man in the lobby approached us asking for the time.  I reached for my watch in my pocket.  The band had broken on our TRAM (streetcar) ride yesterday.  The man said, “Oh, Americans?”  DAH.  He opened a shopping bag he was carrying and said, “Russian souvenirs.”  He had a Russian Navy Admiral’s cap and other stuff.  We figured it might be stolen goods so we said niet spasiba.  No telling what he was going to ask for it anyway.  

Back in the room we folded tracts and stuffed John/Romans books with them, had prayer and proceeded to the train station to hand out the last of our New Testaments, tracts, and booklets.  This was the first rainy, windy day we had in Vladivostok but God caused the weather to slack off a bit while we were passing out the literature.  Here again, some people frowned and didn’t want anything to do with it but most were happy to receive it and some even asked for two so they could give to a friend.  After passing out the last of our literature we stopped at a little restaurant and had some soup and coffee.  We got back to the hotel about 3:30 PM and agreed that we would try and rest until time to take our last shower in Russia and prepare to go to the airport at 11PM.  

I tried sleeping a little bit that after noon but sleep would not come.  There was a note from Svitlana saying she was sorry she couldn’t call us at the appointed time because the phones were all out in her section of town.  She assured us that she would be there at 11PM to take us to the airport.  We made it to the airport OK and Svitlana stayed with us until we checked in for the flight.  As we were carrying our bags out to the shuttle, Brother Long jokingly said we would probably take them on board with us and sure enough that is exactly the way it worked out.  Everybody just piled their bags in spare seats or where ever they could find room for them.  The plane arrived in Khabarouvsk about 3AM.  

Sunday 5/9:  Brother Long suggested that we hire a taxi to the Intourist hotel and rent a room for a half a day.  I was afraid that would cause us to have to carry our suitcases with us from after checkout at 12 Noon until check in time at the airport around 8PM.  So, we stashed our suitcases behind the Aeroflot desk, waited until daylight and caught the trolly-bus into town around 6:30AM.  We arrived at the hotel around 7:15AM and the dining hall did not open for breakfast until 8AM.  So, we took the elevator up to the 5th floor lobby and waited until breakfast time because the main lobby was crowded with some kind of Japanese convention waiting for their tour busses to leave.  

At 8AM we went down and enjoyed pancakes (!!) for breakfast.   The bill ran about 1880 Rubles and we were a little short on Rubles.  They would not take dollars.  The BAHNK was closed so I went to the front desk and changed five dollars.  You always come out a little short when you have to do it that way instead of at the bank or the regular money exchange window.  I returned to the dining hall and left 2000 Rubles on the table.  We went to the lobby to wait for the bank to open and were reminded that today, May 9th, was a holiday to remember Victory in WWII so, the only place where we would be able to change money was back at the airport.  We decided to try the trolly-bus again to change money and check on our bags.  It was a risky situation leaving them as we did. 

The trolly-bus ride wasn’t that bad.  Usually it is like a can of sardines, or as the Russians put it, herring in a barrel.  The terminal was packed when we arrived.  But we were relieved to see our bags still tucked away nice and secure behind the Aeroflot counter.  Brother Long exchanged some money but I decided I had all the Rubles I wanted.  I had made a good trade with a young Russian boy as we were walking to the bus stop from the hotel.  There are always these street hustlers wanting to sell you military hats, medals, pins etc, usually the will show you a card of pins and say all for five bucks.  This fellow came all the way down to two bucks but I still didn’t bite.  Then he saw the pins I was wearing on my jacket.  They were an American flag, a key with Jesus on it, a Return pin, and a Seattle Seahawks pin.  He pointed to my pins and said, “Give me for my American collection these four and I give you all this card.  We made the trade.  

By now it was too late to make it to the Russian Church services on time and in our past experiences, it was not that edifying to non Russian-speaking people anyway so we decided to do a little last minute souvenir shopping for Brother Long before our Noon appointment back at Eleanora’s.  Brother Long found a good deal on some little Russian dolls that store inside of each other and I got some video of a small parade that Vladimir later informed me was a communist demonstration.  When we first arrived at Eleanora’s, Vladimir and Aloosha were not there.  It is very heart warming to see the unfeigned friendliness of these people and to see the excitement on their faces and hear it in their voices when we came to their door.  Eleanora let us stretch out on their bed while she prepared another delicious meal.  Aloosha arrived in time for lunch and Vladimir a short time later.  We visited some more and they let us take another two-hour nap before we had to catch the trolley bus back to the airport.  This time it was squash in standing room only.  

We were back at the airport in plenty of time.  It seems like you have to do an awful lot of waiting when you are on the mission field.  We finally were allowed to check our bags in and were told to keep them with us for customs check.  So there we were, first in line to go through customs and board the plane.  Then we found out they were doing the customs check on the other side of the terminal.  So we found our place in a line that criss-crossed with people in line with their bags trying to check in for the flight.  What a mess, but like everything else, we endured and at last found ourselves seated in another lobby waiting again to board the plane.  It was a wonderful feeling of relief, somewhat but not quite the same as, actually being ON the plane.  

So, now I find myself writing these last few lines on the plane from Anchorage to San Francisco.  Ken and I will split up there and I’ll fly on back home to Seattle.  I am glad I was able to make this trip.  It really gave me a lot more respect for Missionaries and their families and all that they endure for some of the most simple things in life that we so often take for granted and I am thinking – Brother Long and his family are going to need much, much, much prayer.  Dos-vi-dahnia.  

